RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

11-03-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appellate Case No. 2014AP001991

CITY OF SHEBOYGAN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NATHAN J. BECKER,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Appealed from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Sheboygan County, the Honorable Terence T. Bourke Presiding Trial Court Case Nos. 13 TR 2492/2493

Respectfully Submitted:

KIRK OBEAR AND ASSOCIATES

603 South Eighth Street

P.O. Box 935

Sheboygan, Wisconsin 53082-0935

Telephone: (920) 395 2200

Facsimile: (920) 395 2202

Statement of the Issues
Statement on Oral Argument1
Statement on Publication
Statement of the Facts and Case
ARGUMENT 7
CONCLUSION
APPENDIX

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases:

County of Jefferson v. Renz, 231 Wis.2d 293, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999)
Hill v. California, 401 U.S. 797 (1971)
State v. Nordness, 128 Wis. 2d 15, 381 N.W.2d 300 (1986) 11
State v. DiMaggio, 49 Wis. 2d 565, 182 N.W.2d 466 (1971) 10
State v. Paszek, 50 Wis. 2d 619, 184 N.W.2d 836 (1971) 10
State v. Post, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 (2007)8
State v. Richardson, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 456 N.W.2d 830, (1990) 10
Vale v. Louisiana, 399 U.S. 30 (1970)
Statutory Provisions:
Wis. Stat. § 343.303 8

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

T. WHETHER THE ARRESTING OFFICER HAD PROBABLE CAUSE BELIEVE THATDEFENDANT OPERATED A MOTOR VEHICLE WHILE UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF AN INTOXICANT OR WITH A PROHIBITED ALCOHOL CONCENTRATION AT THE TIME HE REQUESTED THATTHEDEFENDANT SUBMIT TOPRELIMINARY BREATH TEST

Trial Court Answered: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Defendant-Appellant believes oral argument is unnecessary in this case. Pursuant to Rule 809.22(2)(b), stats., the briefs will fully develop and explain the issues. Therefore, oral argument would be of only marginal value and would not justify the expense of court time.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant believes publication of this case is also unnecessary. Pursuant to Rule

809.23(a)(b), stats., this case involves the application of well-settled rules of law to a common fact situation.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

On July 4, 2013 at approximately 11:30 p.m., Sheboygan Police Department Sergeant Kurt Zempel a report of a vehicle driving erratically. (R38 at 4, Appendix at 104). Sergeant Zempel, after following the vehicle for several blocks, observed the vehicle partially cross the lane divider before correcting itself and stopping fully at a red light. (R38 at 5-6, Appendix at 105-106). Sergeant Zempel initiated and traffic stop. (R38 at 6, Appendix at 106). The driver of the vehicle, later identified as Nathan J. Becker (hereinafter "Becker") responded appropriately by immediately pulling over. (R38 at 11, Appendix at 111).

Sergeant Zempel reportedly observed that Becker had glassy eyes and slurred speech, but did not note an odor of intoxicants. (R38 at 7-8, Appendix at 107-108). Sergeant Zempel stated that Becker fumbled when removing his license a sleeve in his wallet. (R38 at 12, Appendix at 112). Becker admitted to consuming three to four beers. (R38 at 8, Appendix at 108). At that point, Sheboygan Police Department Officer Michael McCarthy arrived and took over the investigation. (R38 at 14, Appendix at 114).

Officer McCarthy asked Becker to exit his vehicle and to perform several field sobriety tests. Id. Officer Becker reportedly observed a strong odor of intoxicants and upon questioning of "how much he had to drink", Becker allegedly stated that he had drank "two". (R38 at 16, Appendix at 116). Officer

McCarthy did not observe Becker slurring his speech. (R38 at 24, Appendix at 124).

As Officer Officer McCarthy conducted the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test, heavy traffic passed on the road. (R38 at 25, Appendix at 125). When asked whether he used separate passes to check for equal tracking, Officer McCarthy stated, "Yeah. I don't like to break it down. I just-it's all one. Just do the first two and then - so it's all just one part of the test." (R38 at 26, Appendix at 126). Defense counsel requested clarification as to whether Officer McCarthy administered 14 passes, and Officer McCarthy responded, "It would be 12, 14, 16. Wouldn't it?" Officer McCarthy was unfamiliar with resting nystagmus and end point nystagmus. (R38 at 27, Appendix at 127). Becker had no difficulty remaining motionless, with his hands at his side. (R38 at 28, Appendix at 128).

During the instructional period for the Walk and Turn test, Becker correctly remained in the instructional stance and did not prematurely begin (R38 at 29, Appendix at 129). While performing the test, Becker remained on the imaginary line, never stumbled, staggered or raised his arms for balance, and never failed to make heel-to-toe contact. Id.

Next, Officer McCarthy administered the One Leg Stand. (R38 at 32, Appendix at 132). Becker satisfactorily passed the test, by keeping his foot raised at the appropriate height for 30 seconds, and not exhibiting any balance issues. (R38 at 33, Appendix at 133). Although Becker performed the test correctly, Officer McCarthy stated that it would not change his opinion. (R38 at 23, Appendix at 123). When asked why he bothered to administer the test if it would not impact his opinion, Officer McCarthy stated, "It's part of the standardized field sobriety

tests." (R38 at 33, Appendix at 133). Officer McCarthy agreed that he is supposed to gather information from all three tests, and if Becker had failed the third test, it would have strengthened his belief that Becker was impaired. (R38 at 34, Appendix at 134). Officer McCarthy finally stated that he was going to arrest Becker regardless of how he did on the One Leg Stand and only administered it because it is a part of the standardized field tests. Id.

Officer McCarthy requested that the defendant take a PBT, which came back with a reading of .129. Ultimately, Officer McCarthy arrested Becker for Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated.

Prior to trial, Becker filed a suppression motion based upon a lack of probable cause to administer the Preliminary Breath Test and arrest Becker. The Honorable Judge Bourke denied the motion. (R38 at 40, Appendix at 140). Becker was ultimately found guilty of Operating a Motor Vehicle While Impaired. (R37). This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. ARRESTING THE OFFICER LACKED PROBABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE THAT THE DEFENDANT OPERATED A MOTOR VEHICLE WHILE UNDER THEINFLUENCE OF AN INTOXICANT OR PROHIBITED ALCOHOL WITH Α CONCENTRATION AT THE TIME HE REQUESTED THAT THE DEFENDANT SUBMIT TO A PRELIMINARY BREATH **TEST**

This Court will defer to the trial court's factual determinations unless they are clearly erroneous, and will review de novo whether those facts are sufficient to create reasonable suspicion based on the totality of the facts and circumstances. State v. Post, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 (2007).

The Fourth Amendment to the United States

Constitution provides:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

Section 343.303 of the Wisconsin Statutes requires that a law enforcement officer have probable cause to believe that a person is violating, in relevant part, section 346.63 (1) or (2m) before requesting that the person submit to a preliminary breath test. See 343.303, Wis Stats. "Probable cause to believe" refers to a quantum of proof greater than the reasonable suspicion necessary to justify an investigative stop, and greater than the "reason to believe" that is necessary to request a PBT from a commercial driver, but less than the level of proof required to establish probable cause for arrest.

County of Jefferson v. Renz, 231 Wis.2d 293, ¶ 47 (1999).

The issue of probable cause to arrest is based in the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, as well as Article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. State v. Paszek, 50 Wis. 2d 619, 624, 184 N.W.2d 836 (1971); See also State v. Richardson, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 137, 456 N.W.2d 830, 833 (1990).

Probable cause for an arrest without a warrant requires more than an officer's subjective good-faith belief or mere suspicion. See Hill v. California, 401 U.S. 797 (1971); State v. DiMaggio, 49 Wis. 2d 565, 182 N.W.2d 466 (1971). The Wisconsin Supreme Court defines probable cause generally as:

that quantum of evidence which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed a crime. Probable cause exists where the totality of the circumstances within the arresting officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest would lead a reasonable police officer to believe, in this case, that the defendant was operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant.

State v. Nordness, 128 Wis. 2d 15, 35, 381 N.W.2d 300 (1986). When an arrest is made without a warrant, the burden is on the State to show the existence of probable cause. See Vale v. Louisiana, 399 U.S. 30 (1970).

Under the facts and circumstances known to Sergeant Zempel and Officer McCarthy at time they made their arrest decision, they did not possess sufficient probable cause to arrest the defendant. Sergeant Zempel did not establish that Becker violated any law. There was no testimony that a turn signal was mandatory because it would have impacted another driving in having to apply brakes or change their course of direction. In his dealings with Becker, Officer McCarthy observed no slurred

speech. Becker made no admissions to being impaired, although he admitted to drinking two beverages, with no further information as to what they were.

Officer McCarthy's administration of the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test was incorrect, thereby compromising its validity. Officer McCarthy had no understanding that resting nystagmus is something that must be allotted for prior to administering the test. He was also unfamiliar with end point nystagmus, something that naturally occurs in sober adults. The administration of the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus requires that an officer must distinguish normal end point nystagmus from that caused by alcohol.

The Walk and Turn calls for a common sense approach as to what an officer, and ultimately, a jury may observe and identify as impairment. In this

case, there is a great deal of evidence that Becker performed the test in a manner consistent with being able to control his physical performance. It is unusual to see someone exert such a high level of control during this test and not engage in behaviors consistent with impairment.

Officer McCarthy very clearly refused to consider the fact that Becker performed the One Leg Stand Test satisfactorily. This test is used for gathering more information and officers are meant to weigh a defendant's performance on this test. The fact that Officer McCarthy failed to contemplate Becker's satisfactory performance in terms of administering a PBT goes towards his bias against Becker.

In this case, Becker violated no law to require a traffic stop. Officer McCarthy observed no slurred speech, administered the Horizontal Gaze

Nystagmus test incorrectly, saw minimal clues on the Walk and Turn and refused to consider Becker's satisfactory performance prior to administering the PBT. If any one of the standardized field sobriety test elements is changed, the validity is compromised.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Becker respectfully asserts that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion to issue an order suppressing for use as evidence any and all statements made by the him, the chemical test of his breath, and any other observations made by the arresting officer of him subsequent to the unlawful arrest.

Therefore, Becker requests that this Court reverse the trial court's decision and remand the case for further proceedings consistent with this Court's opinion.