# **RECEIVED**

# STATE OF WISCONSIN12-04-2014 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2014 AP 1991 Trial Court Case Nos. 13 TR 2492 & 2493

# CITY OF SHEBOYGAN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

# NATHAN J. BECKER,

Defendant-Appellant.

\_\_\_\_\_

# APPEAL FROM A RULING OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SHEBOYGAN COUNTY

The Honorable Terence T. Bourke, Presiding

\_\_\_\_\_

#### BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

\_\_\_\_\_

City of Sheboygan City Attorney's Office 828 Center Avenue, Suite 304 Sheboygan, WI 53081 (920) 459-3917 (920) 459-3919 (FAX) charles.adams@sheboyganwi.gov

By: Charles C. Adams

Assistant City Attorney State Bar No. 1021454

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE ARRESTING OFFICER HAD THE REQUISITE PROBABLE CAUSE PURSUANT TO STATE V. RENZ TO BELIEVE THAT THE DEFENDANT VIOLATED §346.63(1), WIS. STATS.; AS A RESULT, THE OFFICER'S REQUEST THAT THE DEFENDANT SUBMIT TO A PRELIMINARY BREATH TEST WAS PROPER.

# 1. Background Facts

# a. Sgt. Zempel's traffic stop

Late in the evening of the 4<sup>th</sup> of July, 2013, Sgt. Kurt Zempel was in his squad car supervising second shift police officers on duty in the City of Sheboygan. At about 11:30 p.m., he heard police dispatch report an erratic driver northbound on Calumet Drive. Since he was in the area, he looked for the vehicle, finding it in the area of North 20<sup>th</sup> Street and Calumet Drive. (R38 at 4-5)

Sgt. Zempel was aware from the dispatch that there was a civilian witness who called in the erratic driver, who was following the driver, and who was willing to make a statement. (R38 at 4-5) The civilian witness, who described the make, model, color, and license plate number of the vehicle, (R38 at 6) reported that he was seeing the vehicle "crossing the center line, swerving between traffic, and driving erratically." (R38 at 5)

Sgt. Zempel, upon locating the erratic driver, watched as the driver approached the traffic control signals at North Avenue and Calumet Drive. As the vehicle approached the intersection, it "swerved from the outside lane to the inside lane" without engaging a turn signal, "made an abrupt motion to the left, crossing

the divider," then moved abruptly again, this time back into the outside lane of traffic. (R38 at 5) Sgt. Zempel noted at a motion hearing in this matter that traffic was unusually heavy for the time of night, as it was just shortly after the city's famous fireworks show had finished. Traffic volume at that time was as high as the city ever experiences. (R38 at 10)

The vehicle then stopped at the red light. However, the driver kept his foot on the brake while pressing the accelerator, causing the engine to rev. (R38 at 6) As soon as the light turned green, Sgt. Zempel engaged his lights and pulled the vehicle over. He identified the driver as the defendant-appellant, Nathan Becker. (R38 at 7)

As Sgt. Zempel spoke with Becker, he noticed that Becker's eyes were glassy and his speech was slurred. Becker had difficulty articulating his consonants. When asked to provide his driver's license, Becker had difficulty getting it out of his wallet. It took him several attempts to slide the license out of the slot in his wallet. (R38 at 7)

Becker admitted he had been consuming alcoholic beverages that night, at first saying that he had had three or four beers. (R38 at 8) Sgt. Zempel then turned over the investigation to Officer Michael McCarthy, one of his second-shift traffic officers, so that Sgt. Zempel could continue in his supervisory role. (R38 at 9)

# b. Officer McCarthy's roadside investigation

Officer McCarthy, who had heard the dispatch reports, spoke briefly to Sgt. Zempel so he could be informed about Sgt. Zempel's observations. Officer McCarthy then had Becker exit his vehicle so that he could have Becker perform field sobriety tests. (R38 at 14) As he does so, he notices the strong odor of intoxicants coming from Becker. As he had done moments before, Becker admitted to Officer McCarthy that he had been drinking, but now that he was aware that the investigation was continuing, he downgraded his admission to just two drinks. (R38 at 16)

Officer McCarthy, who is trained to use standardized field sobriety tests to determine whether a driver may be impaired, had Becker perform three tests. McCarthy is trained to look for specific clues of impairment on these tests. (R38 at 16-17) On the first—the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test, McCarthy noted that Becker exhibited each and every of the six clues he is trained to look for as an indication of impairment. (R38 at 19) McCarthy then had Becker perform the "Walk and Turn" test, noting three clues—stopping during the test in order to regain balance, taking an incorrect number of steps, and performing a turn contrary to instructions. These clues also were an indication that Becker was impaired. Additionally, Officer McCarthy noted that Becker needed instructions repeated before he was able to begin the test. (R38 at 20-21)

Officer McCarthy then had Becker perform a "One Leg Stand" test. Becker

performed this test acceptably and Officer McCarthy observed no clues of impairment. (R38 at 22) Officer McCarthy noted Becker's young age and apparently high level of physical fitness, stating that some people perform better on the physical tests. (R38 at 23)

Based on all he had observed, as well as the information in the dispatches and Sgt. Zempel's observations, Officer McCarthy concluded that he had sufficient probable cause to request that Becker provide a preliminary breath sample. Becker agreed to provide a sample. (R38 at 23) Eventually Becker was arrested and charged with Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated, in violation of §346.63(1)(a), Wis. Stats., and with Operating a Motor Vehicle with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration, in violation of §346.63(1)(b), Wis. Stats.

#### c. Circuit court decision

Becker later filed a suppression motion alleging that Officer McCarthy lacked the requisite level of probable cause needed to request a preliminary breath sample. Sgt. Zempel and Officer McCarthy testified at a hearing on that motion. The circuit court denied the motion, finding that Officer McCarthy had the necessary level of probable cause. The circuit court cited the facts in *County of Jefferson v. Renz*, 231 Wis. 2d. 93, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999), which is the seminal case in Wisconsin on this issue. The court noted the similarity of the facts in the present case to those in *Renz*, and denied Becker's motion. Becker was eventually convicted via a trial conducted upon stipulated facts, and then appealed.

# 2. Relevant law

As noted, the seminal case in Wisconsin on the issue of probable cause to request a preliminary breath test is *County of Jefferson v. Renz*. The case interprets §343.303, Wis. Stats., which provides that:

"If a law enforcement officer has probable cause to believe that the person is violating or has violated s. 346.63(1) ... the officer, prior to an arrest, may request the person to provide a sample of his or her breath for a preliminary breath screening test using a device approved by the department for this purpose. The result of this preliminary breath screening test may be used by the law enforcement officer for the purpose of deciding whether or not the person shall be arrested for a violation of s. 346.63(1) .... The result of the preliminary breath screening test shall not be admissible in any action or proceeding except to show probable cause for an arrest, if the arrest is challenged..."

The *Renz* court held that the statute does not require that the officer have probable cause to arrest a driver for drunk driving before giving that driver a preliminary breath test. *Renz*, 231 Wis. 2d at 295, 315–316, 603 N.W.2d at 542, 551–552. Rather, the statute's phrase "'probable cause to believe' refers to a quantum of proof greater than the reasonable suspicion necessary to justify an investigative stop ... but less than the level of proof required to establish probable cause for arrest." Id., 231 Wis. 2d at 316, 603 N.W.2d at 552. The court later summarized the *Renz* decision by stating that a preliminary breath test "may be requested when an officer has a basis to justify an investigative stop but has not established probable cause to justify an arrest." *State v. Fischer*, 2010 WI 6, ¶5.

The legislature intended that the preliminary breath test function as a

person suspected of an OWI violation. *Renz*, 231 Wis. 2d at 312-16, 603 N.W.2d at 550-552. The legislature used the word "preliminary" for a specific reason: to denote that the PBT is "a preparation for something else." Id. at 313. That something else is a probable cause to arrest, a higher standard than simply probable cause to request a preliminary breath test.

The concept of "probable cause" has various roles in the law, depending on what is at issue. See *Renz*, 231 Wis. 2d at 304–305, 308–309, 310–311, 603 N.W.2d at 546–547, 548, 549–550. "The question of probable cause must be assessed on a case-by-case basis, looking at the totality of the circumstances. Probable cause is a 'flexible, common-sense measure of the plausibility of particular conclusions about human behavior." *State v. Lange*, 2009 WI 49, ¶20.

It is also important to note that performance on standardized field sobriety tests is not the be-all and end-all of determining probable cause to request a preliminary breath test. In *State v. Felton*, 2012 WI App 114, the court noted that the fact that a driver has successfully completed all of the properly administered field sobriety tests does not subtract from the common-sense view that the driver may have had an illegal blood alcohol level "any more than innocent behavior automatically negates either probable cause or even the lower reasonable-suspicion standard." *Felton* at ¶10, see also *United States v. Sokolow*, 490 U.S. 1, 9–10 (1989). Indeed, the *Felton* court noted that the officer with other evidence of

breath test without even asking him to perform any field sobriety tests because "they are not needed to establish probable cause to arrest someone for drunk driving," and that the "probable-cause standard is lower for assessing the validity of giving a preliminary-breath test than it is for an arrest." Id., see also *Washburn County v. Smith*, 2008 WI 23, ¶33.

#### 3. Application to the present case

The common-sense inquiry in this matter is to determine what Officer McCarthy knew that led him to give Becker a preliminary breath test. The record shows the following:

- Becker was driving erratically, swerving and abruptly changing lanes while in heavy traffic; (R38 at 5-6)
- Becker unnecessarily revved his engine while stopped at an intersection;
   (R38 at 6)
- Becker had glassy eyes; (R38 at 7)
- Becker's speech was slurred and he had difficulty articulating his consonants; (R38 at 7)
- Becker had a strong odor of an alcoholic beverage coming from him;
   (R38 at 16)
- Becker had poor small motor coordination, as demonstrated by his

- difficulty in producing his driver's license from his wallet; (R38 at 7)
- Becker admitted to consuming alcoholic beverages, first telling Sgt.
   Zempel that he had had three or four drinks, but later telling Officer
   McCarthy it was only two; (R38 at 8)
- Becker performed poorly on two standardized field sobriety tests—the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test and the Walk and Turn test; (R38 at 19-21)
- Becker successfully performed one field sobriety test—the One Leg
   Stand. (R38 at 22)

These facts are sufficient to provide Officer McCarthy sufficient basis to have probable cause to request a preliminary breath test.

# 4. Comparison to the facts in other reported cases

Wisconsin appellate courts have more than once applied the *Renz* standard to specific facts. When one compares the facts of this case to the facts in a number of those cases, it is clear that the circuit court's decision in this case was correct.

# a. County of Jefferson v. Renz

As noted by the circuit court, one of those cases is *Renz* itself. In *Renz*, the driver was stopped for defective exhaust, not for any negative driving behavior. The driver smelled of intoxicants and admitted to having three beers earlier in the evening. He showed no slurred speech. The driver exhibited all six clues on the

Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus case, two clues on the Walk and Turn, and only one clue on the One Leg Stand, putting his foot down once during the test. He also performed two non-standard tests, correctly reciting the alphabet, and performing a finger-to-nose test properly with one hand, but touching the bridge of his nose with the other. *Renz*, 231 Wis. 2d at 296–298, 603 N.W.2d at 542–544.

The circuit court in the case at hand commented at the close similarity to the facts in *Renz*. While Becker showed no clues on the One Leg Stand, he showed one additional clue on the Walk and Turn and had the same difficulty with the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test. Like the driver in *Renz*, Becker admitted to drinking, smelled of intoxicants, and showed some issues with coordination. Unlike the driver in *Renz*, Becker also had slurred speech and had been observed driving erratically.

#### b. State v. Colstad

Several years after the *Renz* decision, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals applied the *Renz* standard to another fact situation in *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 205. In that case, the driver performed "better than most" on the field sobriety tests. In fact, he exhibited no problem with balance during the One Leg Stand test and only exhibited two clues on the Walk and Turn test, stepping off an imaginary straight line and swaying. He slurred his speech only very briefly, while saying the letters L, M, N, and O, in the alphabet test. He did begin a test prematurely and neglected to include "one thousand" while counting during the One Leg Stand.

Neither of these constitutes a clue in the standardized field test regimen, but is an indicator of impairment. The driver was involved in an accident. Id., ¶24-25.

While these facts are slightly different from those in *Renz* and the present case, they are of a similar concern. The driver in *Colstad* did relatively well on field sobriety tests, yet the facts were sufficient to allow the court to hold that the officer in that case had the requisite probable cause to request a preliminary breath test. Id., ¶26.

#### c. State v. Felton

In the previously cited case of *State v. Felton*, 2012 WI App 114, the facts were even more in favor of the driver than in any of the previously cited cases. There, the driver's eyes were glassy and bloodshot, he smelled of alcohol and admitted to drinking three beers two hours before the stop. As far as driving behavior, the officer described the defendant as staying too long at one stop sign and then going through another without stopping. The officer knew that the driver in *Felton* had prior OWI convictions. The facts in the present case are far more indicative of a violation of the impaired driving than those in *Felton*.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Becker was driving in an erratic and dangerous manner. He had glassy eyes, slurred speech, and a strong odor of an alcoholic beverage coming from him. He admitted to consuming three to four alcoholic drinks prior to driving and demonstrated poor coordination, both prior to and during the field sobriety tests. Becker performed poorly on two of the three standardized field sobriety tests—the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test and the Walk and Turn test. When considered as a whole, considering the totality of the circumstances, these facts are sufficient to provide Officer McCarthy sufficient basis to have probable cause to request a preliminary breath test. The facts in other published appellate court decisions buttress that conclusion. Therefore, the city requests that the court deny Becker's appeal and uphold the judgment of conviction.